North Carolina Organization of Nurse Leaders BYLAWS

Article I – Name

The organization shall be known as the North Carolina Organization of Nurse Leaders (NCONL), an affiliate of the American Organization of Nurse Executives (AONE).

Article II– Mission/Purpose

MISSION

NCONL will serve as a voice for nurse leaders; provide venues for professional development and advocacy; facilitate research and its application to advance nursing practice and health care policy; and serves as a catalyst for transforming patient care.

PURPOSE

The purpose of the NCONL shall be to:

- 1. Provide a medium for the interchange of ideas and dissemination of information and materials relative to nursing leadership.
- 2. Provide a platform within the health care field from which nursing leaders may speak on nursing and health care issues.
- 3. Provide consultation and direction on all matters relating to nursing and health care issues.
- 4. Identify and define health care issues that affect nursing and establish position statements on those items.
- 5. Promote educational programs and activities to strengthen nursing leadership.
- 6. Promote professional excellence in the field of nursing leadership.
- 7. Promote research that affects and strengthens nursing leadership practice.
- 8. NCONL is organized exclusively for charitable, scientific, and educational purposes as a not-for-profit association. It shall be conducted so that no part of its income or earnings will inure to the benefit of any members, director, officer, or other individual. Upon dissolution, the assets shall be distributed to an organization enjoying an exempt status under S502[®] (6) of the Internal Revenue Code or successor statutory authority.

Article III - Powers

The power to administer the business of NCONL shall be vested in the Executive Board to be elected by the membership of NCONL as herein provided.

NCONL may recommend policies, responses, direction on issues, and/or provide consultations within its area of interest to the North Carolina Healthcare Association (NCHA) and other associations, organizations or agencies.

NCONL may develop and disseminate position papers on issues that impact nursing leadership.

NCONL may accept, retain, or expand any funds or property that may be donated to further the work or programs of NCONL.

Article IV - Membership

Section 1. Eligibility

A. Individual Members -Individual Members shall consist of Registered Nurse (RN) leaders or aspiring leaders in sites where health care is delivered; RN faculty/deans/directors in education

institutions; RNs working in or for professional associations/professional journals, regulatory agencies, accrediting health care organizations, or nurse consultants.

Individual members that become unemployed may extend membership for a one-year renewal period.

- B. Student Members RN's who are full-time students in nursing, health care, or business administration.
- C. Retired Members Any Full NCONL Member who is retired from the profession and has maintained NCONL membership for a period of five consecutive years prior to their application. A Retired Member shall be entitled to all rights and privileges of a Full Member with the exception of holding an Officer position at the state level.
- D. Honorary Members Honorary membership is conferred for life upon the recommendation and action by the NCONL Executive Board. Once conferred, honorary members may attend NCONL business and educational meetings but will not be considered Individual Members, not permitted to vote in the meetings of, hold office in, or vote for the directors or Officers of NCONL except as otherwise set forth in these Bylaws.

Section 2. Establishment of Membership

Any RN who meets membership eligibility, completes a formal application, and pays initial membership dues, shall be approved for membership in NCONL. Honorary members are exempt from these requirements.

Section 3. Termination of Membership

- A. Loss of Eligibility. Membership of any person who does not meet the criteria for membership in NCONL will be automatically terminated at the end of the term for which dues have been paid.
- B. Non-Transfer of Membership. Membership in NCONL shall not be transferred to another person.
- C. Non-Payment of Dues. Members shall be terminated for non-payment of dues no later than ninety (90) days after such dues were due and payable and remain unpaid.
- D. No member or class of members is entitled to any distributive share of the assets of the corporation upon liquidation. Therefore, upon expulsion or loss of eligibility by a member, no distribution or payment is due the former members and all his/her property rights are adequately safeguarded.

Article V - Dues

The Executive Board of NCONL shall recommend annual dues. Dues will be determined based on fair market value of like nursing professional organizations. Changes in dues shall become effective 60 days after approval by the Executive Board and the membership will be notified.

All dues paid to NCONL become the property of NCONL for allocation in accordance with the annual budget approved by the Executive Board. No portion of the dues paid by any member shall be refunded because his/her membership is terminated for any reason.

Dues shall be consistent within each membership category, with student and retiree dues at one-half of individual membership dues. Honorary members shall be exempt from dues requirement.

Membership dues cover a period of twelve (12) months.

Article VI - Meetings

Section 1. General Meetings

There shall be at least one business meeting per year of NCONL members for transaction of the affairs of the NCONL. The Executive Board shall designate the time and place of the meeting.

Section 2. Special Meetings

The Executive Board of NCONL may call special meetings. Such meetings shall be limited to consideration of subjects listed in the official call, unless it is otherwise ordered by two-thirds vote of the members present and voting.

Section 3. Notice of Meetings

The membership of NCONL shall be notified of the general and special meetings no less than thirty (30) days prior to the date of the meeting.

Section 4. Attendance at Meetings

General and District meetings shall be open to members and non-members of NCONL. Voting shall be limited to membership in NCONL. Non-members attending general or district meetings will be encouraged to join NCONL.

Section 5. Order of Meetings

The Executive Board shall approve the order of business for general and specific meetings. Where an order is not so provided and when it is not otherwise expressly provided for in these By-laws, Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised, shall govern meetings.

Section 6. Voting

- A. Each individual, student, and retired member of NCONL in good standing shall be entitled to one vote. No cumulative voting shall be permitted.
- B. Proxy voting shall not be permitted.
- C. Voting will be by voting cards, telephone, email or electronic technology at general or special meetings. Any method of voting may not be transferred to non-voting members.

Section 7. Quorum

No less than 20 percent of voting members of NCONL shall constitute a quorum at any meeting duly convened, and simple majority shall prevail.

Article VII - Officers

Section 1. Officers

The president, president-elect, secretary, and treasurer shall be elected by the members of NCONL. These officers must maintain membership in AONE per the Affiliation Agreement.

Section 2. Eligibility

Each officer candidate shall be an individual or student member in good standing of NCONL and shall have served as a member of the Board of NCONL.

Section 3. Term of Office

- All officers shall serve a term of two (2) years and may not serve more than two consecutive terms in the same office.
- Terms of office shall commence on January 1st each year.
- The office of President will follow their term to immediately serve as past-president.
- The president-elect shall take office as president at the end of his/her term as president-elect.
- No NCONL member may hold more than one office during a term.

Section 4. Election

The election of president-elect, secretary, and treasurer shall be by a vote of the statewide voting membership and shall be conducted by mail or email. A ballot listing the names of eligible candidates, proposed by the Committee on Nominations and approved by the Executive Board, together with a

resume of the professional background and experience of each candidate shall be mailed or emailed every other year to each member of the NCONL. This notification must not be less than sixty (60) days prior to the General Membership meeting.

Three tellers appointed by the president shall tabulate the votes. The Chairperson of the Teller's Committee shall transmit the results of the vote to the president at least fifteen (15) days prior to the general meeting. In the event of a tie, the Executive Board shall select the officer. The results of the election shall be communicated to the membership.

Section 5. Duties

- A. President. The president shall preside at all meetings of NCONL and shall serve as Chair of the Executive Board. It shall be the president's duty to supervise the activities of NCONL; to present a report at general meetings (a copy of which shall be kept in the permanent files of NCONL); to appoint the Chair and members of standing committees as authorized by the Board; and perform such duties as may from time to time be directed by the Board.
- B. President-elect. The president-elect shall, in the absence or incapacity of the president, perform all the duties and assume all responsibilities of the president. The president-elect shall perform such duties as assigned by the Board. The president-elect shall also serve as the Parliamentarian during his/her term.
- C. Secretary. The secretary shall prepare the minutes of all meetings of NCONL and of the Board; conduct the general correspondence of NCONL, notify officers and committee members of their election or appointment and perform such other duties as may be indicated.
- D. Treasurer. The treasurer, in collaboration with the Executive Director, shall be responsible for preparing and presenting an annual budget, maintaining the financial records of NCONL and insuring that an annual financial statement is prepared by a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) and perform such other duties as may be indicated.

Section 6. Vacancies

- A. If the office of the president becomes vacant, the president-elect shall succeed to the office of president. He/she shall continue to serve as president for the subsequent term. The Executive Board shall appoint, from the membership of the Executive Board, a president-elect pro tempore, who meets the qualifications of officer eligibility requirements, . With the next regular voting cycle of NCONL, a president-elect shall be elected in accordance with the provisions of these by-laws.
- B. If the office of president-elect becomes vacant, the Executive Board shall appoint a president-elect pro tempore, who meets the qualifications of eligibility requirements, from the membership of the Executive Board. With the next regular voting cycle of NCONL, a president-elect shall be elected in accordance with the provisions of these by-laws.
- C. If the office of both the president and president-elect becomes vacant, the Executive Board shall appoint, from the membership of the Executive Board, a president pro tempore and a president-elect pro tempore who meet the eligibility criteria. With the next regular voting cycle of NCONL, a president and president-elect shall be elected in accordance with the provisions of these by-laws.
- D. If the offices of secretary and/or treasurer become vacant, the Executive Board shall appoint a NCONL member who meets the eligibility requirement to serve for the remaining portion of the unexpired term. With the next regular voting cycle of NCONL, a secretary and/or treasurer shall be elected in accordance with the provisions of these by-laws.

Article VIII - Executive Director

- A. The executive director is an appointed position and shall be selected by the president, after consultation with the president-elect, secretary and treasurer.
- B. The executive director becomes an ex officio member of the Board, but does not have voting rights.

C. Duties: The executive director shall be responsible for implementation of the goals, programs and policies developed by the Board, maximize revenues, facilitate membership records, network with other nursing organizations, develop and maintain NCONL historical files/records, and represent NCONL on statewide nursing initiatives. The executive director shall perform such other duties as may be assigned by the president.

Article IX - District Representatives

Section 1. Districts

Boundaries of NCONL districts shall be divided into six districts. Districts are listed by county.

District 1:

Buncombe, Cherokee, Clay, Graham, Haywood, Henderson, Jackson, Macon, Madison, McDowell, Mitchell, Polk, Rutherford, Swain, Transylvania, Yancey

District 2:

Alamance, Caswell, Davidson, Davey, Forsyth, Guilford, Randolph, Rockingham, Stokes, Surry, Yadkin

District 3:

Avery, Alexander, Allegany, Ashe, Burke, Cabarrus, Caldwell, Catawba, Cleveland, Gaston, Iredell, Lincoln, Mecklenburg, Rowan, Stanly, Union, Watauga, Wilkes

District 4:

Chatham, Durham, Franklin, Granville, Johnston, Lee, Orange, Person, Vance, Wake, Warren

District 5:

Anson, Bladen, Brunswick, Columbus, Cumberland, Harnett, Hoke, Montgomery, Moore, New Hanover, Pender, Richmond, Robeson, Sampson, Scotland

District 6:

Beaufort, Bertie, Camden, Carteret, Chowan, Craven, Currituck, Dare, Duplin, Edgecombe, Gates, Greene, Halifax, Hertford, Hyde, Jones, Lenoir, Martin, Nash, Northampton, Onslow, Pamlico, Pasquotank, Perquimans, Pitt, Tyrell, Washington, Wayne, Wilson

Section 2. Eligibility

Each district representative shall be an individual, student or retired member in good standing of NCONL.

Section 3. Election and Term

- A. There shall be two (2) representatives from the membership of each of the districts. One representative shall be elected by the district membership each year to serve a two-year term.
- B. The election procedure to be followed shall be determined by the district membership.
- C. In addition to filling an unexpired term, district representatives may serve two (2) consecutive elected terms, unless approved by the Executive Board.
- D. Terms of office shall commence on January 1 each year.

Section 4. Responsibilities

- A. District representatives shall serve as members of the Board.
- B. District representatives shall facilitate the exchange of information between the Board and the members in his/her respective districts.
- C. District representatives shall submit a report in writing on district activities at each Board meeting.

- D. District representatives shall submit a proposed schedule of meeting dates for District Meetings each January to the Executive Director. The Executive Director will submit to AONE.
- E. The district representative shall notify the NCONL President of the elected district representative at least thirty (30) days prior to the beginning of the term.
- F. Frequency of district meetings of NCONL shall be determined by the district membership with a minimum of four (4) meetings per year, one of which may be the annual meeting.
- G. Business of the district shall be conducted in accordance with the by-laws of NCONL.

Article X - Emerging Nurse Leader

Section 1. Eligibility

Emerging Nurse Leader shall be an individual or student member in good standing of NCONL.

Section 2. Selection and Term

- A. There shall be one (1) representative from the membership selected by the Executive Board to serve a two (2) year term.
- B. The selection procedure to be followed shall be determined by the Executive Board.
- C. May serve two (2) consecutive terms.
- D. Terms of office shall commence on January 1.

Section 3. Responsibilities

- A. Emerging Nurse Leader shall serve as a member of the Executive Board.
- B. Emerging Nurse Leader shall work collaboratively with <u>their</u> District Representatives to facilitate meetings in their District.
- C. Emerging Nurse Leader shall facilitate the exchange of information between the Executive Board and the members.

Article XI - Executive Board

Section 1. Composition

There shall be an Executive Board consisting of the president, president-elect, immediate past president, secretary, treasurer, executive director, an emerging nurse leader, district representatives, and chairs of standing NCONL committees.

Section 2. Duties

The Executive Board shall have the authority to make policy decisions for NCONL; to carry on the business of NCONL to establish rules and procedures for the Executive Board and NCONL; to approve reports, resolutions or actions of officers and committees, and to approve an annual budget for recommendation to the membership.

Section 3. Meetings

The Executive Board of NCONL shall have at least four meetings per year following receipt of formal notice. The president may call additional meetings of the Board with the concurrence of two other officers.

Section 4. Quorum

The majority of the members of the Executive Board, one of whom shall be the president or presidentelect, shall constitute a quorum.

Section 5. Attendance

Failure to attend two consecutive meetings may result in a discussion with the President and/or Executive Board to evaluate commitment to the work of the organization and ongoing service as a Board member. Any change in standing will be approved by the Executive Board.

Article XII - Committees

Section 1. Committees of NCONL shall be:

- A. Standing Committees. The authority and responsibility of such committees shall be to address continuous, recurring and/or urgent matters as defined in these by-laws. Standing committees shall report their findings and recommendations to the Executive Board and/or full membership. Sub-committees may be formed to accomplish specific tasks.
- B. Special (Ad hoc) Committees. The president creates special committees. The authority and responsibility of these committees shall be to study immediate and/or recurring matters. The special committees shall continue to function until the assignment is completed unless otherwise designated or until dissolved by the Board.

Section 2. Failure to Fulfill Responsibilities

Failure of a committee member to fulfill his/her responsibilities as determined by the Board, shall constitute an automatic resignation from the committee.

Section 3. Standing Committees

The standing committees of NCONL shall be:

- 1. Executive
- 2. Nominations
- 3. Professional Development/Program
- 4. Legislative Liaison
- 5. Finance
- 6. By-laws
- 7. Practice
- 8. Membership and Diversity
- 9. Information Services
- 10. Research

Section 4. Executive Committee

- A. Composition. The Executive Committee shall consist of the president, president-elect, secretary, treasurer, immediate past president and executive director (as a non-voting member).
- B. Duties. The Executive Committee shall be available on an advisory basis to the president for consideration of unscheduled matters requiring time-limited response. All actions of the Executive Committee shall be reported to the Executive Board at its next meeting.

Section 5. Committee on Nominations

- A. Composition. The Committee on Nominations shall consist of the immediate past president of NCONL who shall serve as Chairperson and one district Board representative from each district. The District Representative will notify the Executive Board of their Nomination Committee member during the month of January each year.
- B. Duties. The Committee on Nominations shall prepare and submit to the Executive Board for approval a slate of candidates for president-elect, secretary and treasurer. Any voting member of NCONL may recommend in writing a candidate for consideration by the Committee on Nominations. The slate of candidates should reflect the broad program interest of NCONL with consideration being given to geographic representation. The list of candidates, together with a

professional resume shall be mailed or emailed every other year to all NCONL members at least 60 days prior to the General Membership meeting date.

C. Vacancies. If a vacancy occurs on the Committee on Nominations, the district from which the vacancy occurred shall elect a new voting member and communicate the new member's name to the president within thirty (30) days of notice of the vacancy. If the Chairperson of the Nominating Committee is vacant, the president shall appoint another Chairperson from the NCONL Executive Board.

Section 6. Professional Development/Program Committee

- A. Composition. The president shall appoint, from the voting membership, two members to serve as Chairpersons of the Professional Development Committee. The chairpersons shall have the option to appoint members to the committee as necessary.
- B. Duties. The chair(s) shall recommend to the Executive Board programs that promote the objectives of NCONL. It shall be responsible for the selection of a site and presentation of a program at each general meeting of NCONL as well as any sponsorship for the program. The Chairperson shall report to the Executive Board at each business meeting.
- C. Vacancies. If a vacancy should occur, the president shall fill the vacancy by appointment.

Section 7. Legislative Committee

- A. Composition. The president shall appoint the Chairperson of the Legislative Committee, who shall have the option to appoint members to the committee as necessary.
- B. Duties. The Chair shall keep the Board apprised of significant state and national legislation and of activities of organizations and boards, which impact on nursing. The Chair shall report to the Board at each Board meeting and to members at each general membership meeting.
- C. Vacancies. If a vacancy should occur, the president shall fill the vacancy by appointment.

Section 8. Finance Committee

- A. Composition. The president shall appoint a three-member committee consisting of the treasurer of NCONL and two voting members, one of who shall be appointed by the president as Chairperson.
- B. Duties. The Finance Committee shall prepare and present to the Executive Board a recommended budget for each fiscal year beginning January 1, and shall have conducted an annual audit of the previous fiscal year. The Finance Committee will also recommend to the Executive Board dues changes necessary to meet expense to fulfill the objective of NCONL.
- C. Vacancies. If a vacancy should occur, the president shall fill the vacancy by appointment.

Section 9. By-laws Committee

- A. Composition. The president shall appoint a voting member as Chairperson. The chairperson shall have the option to appoint members to the committee as necessary.
- B. Duties. The chair shall review the by-laws and special rules of order and recommend changes as necessary to meet the objectives of NCONL.
- C. Vacancies. If a vacancy should occur, the president shall fill the vacancy by appointment.

Section 10. Practice Committee

- A. Composition. The president shall appoint from the voting membership, two members to serve as Chairpersons of the Practice Committee. The chairpersons shall have the option to appoint members to the committee as necessary.
- B. Duties. The Practice Committee shall serve as NCONL's advisory committee on practice issues. It shall be the duty of this committee to provide consultation to the Executive Board and NCONL on all matters relating to nursing practice in health care institutions. The Practice Committee may also represent NCONL as a liaison committee to other associations, organizations, or agencies deliberating issues affecting the practice of nursing in health care institutions.

C. Vacancies. If a vacancy should occur, the president shall fill the vacancy by appointment.

Section 11. Membership and Diversity Committee

- A. Composition. The president shall appoint from the voting membership, the Chairperson of the Membership and Diversity Committee, who shall have the option to appoint committee members as necessary.
- B. Duties. The Membership and Diversity Committee shall interpret member eligibility. They shall promote diversity in recruitment and retention efforts consistent with NCONL goals.
- C. Vacancies. If a vacancy should occur, the president shall fill the vacancy by appointment.

Section 12. Information Services Committee

- A. Composition. The president shall appoint, from the voting membership, the Chairperson of the Information Services Committee who shall have the option of appointing members to the committee as necessary.
- B. Duties. The chair shall direct efforts, which promote access to NCONL data resources.
- C. Vacancies. If a vacancy should occur, the president shall fill the vacancy by appointment.

Section 13. Research Committee

- A. Composition. The Research Committee shall consist of members who possess an experiential knowledge base of nursing research and demonstrated interest in promoting/supporting research in the practice setting. The president shall appoint, from the voting membership, a chairperson(s) who shall have the option to appoint members to the committee as necessary. The composition shall be a minimum of five (5) voting members.
- B. Duties. This committee shall educate nurses regarding the value of research in improving health care, serve as a vehicle for conducting/supporting research in the practice setting, and serve as a repository of resources to facilitate nursing research. The Chairs(s) shall report to the Board at each Board meeting.
- C. Vacancies. If a vacancy should occur, the president shall fill the vacancy by appointment if the committee members desire or if the minimum request is not met.

Article XIII – Affiliations

The relationship between NCONL and the North Carolina Healthcare Association shall be voluntarily established for the mutual benefit of NCONL and NCHA.

NCONL may enter into agreement of affiliation with AONE under the provisions determined and prescribed by general membership.

Article XIV - Amendments

Amendments to the by-laws may be recommended in writing by the Executive Board or by at least five voting members of NCONL. Amendments so proposed shall be filed with the secretary of the Organization at least 60 days prior to the general meeting. Notice of proposed amendments shall be sent to all members not less than 30 days prior to the meeting (by mail, Email or posted on the Website).

The by-laws may be amended by the above 30-day notice and a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting at any general or special meeting of NCONL, if those present constitute a quorum as defined in Article VI - Section 7. If a 30-day notice has not occurred, by-laws may be amended by a 75% vote of members present and voting at any general or special meeting of NCONL, if those present constitute a quorum as defined in Article VI - Section 7. Duly approved amendments shall be mailed or emailed to the membership within 120 days.

October 31, 2000 June 26, 2001 July 13, 2002 August 26, 2004

June 3, 2005	September 4, 2008	May 14, 2009	May 20, 2010
June 2, 2011	April 8, 2013	April 30, 2015	March 15, 2018
March 21, 2019	-	-	